No. 23-ICA-154
(Consolidated with No. 23-ICA-155)
IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Jul 17 2023
11:23AM EDT
Transaction ID 70402244

**NORTHEAST NATURAL ENERGY LLC;
NNE PROPERTIES LLC; PACHIRA ENERGY, LLC;
AND PACHIRA ENERGY HOLDINGS, LLC**

Defendants Below, Petitioners,

v.

LT REALTY UNLIMITED, LLC,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent.

**BRIEF OF PETITIONERS NORTHEAST NATURAL ENERGY, LLC; NNE
PROPERTIES LLC; PACHIRA ENERGY, LLC; AND
PACHIRA ENERGY HOLDINGS, LLC**

Seth P. Hayes
Dale H. Harrison
Jackson Kelly PLLC
150 Clay Street, Suite 500, Morgantown, WV 26501
(304) 284-4100
shayes@jacksonkelly.com
dharrison@jacksonkelly.com

Albert F. Sebok

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Circuit Court erred when it failed to find that the disputed oil and gas was and has been presumptively assessed along with the surface estate. Because the disputed oil and gas was presumptively assessed with the surface estate, the oil and gas never went non-entered and thus was never forfeited to the State for non-entry. Accordingly, the disputed oil and gas was never subject to a tax sale and was not subsequently conveyed in a tax deed.

2. The Circuit Court erred when it found that the subject oil and gas was conveyed in a tax deed when the only specific estate proceeded against for delinquency and identified in the tax deed was Sewickley Coal; the Circuit Court's ruling is in contravention of West Virginia Code Section 11-4-9 and West Virginia case law addressing the same.

3. The Circuit Court's ruling ignored long established precedent of West Virginia property law, which violates a critical public policy consideration, namely the certainty in land titles.

4. The Circuit Court erred when it found that Respondent LT Realty Unlimited, LLC acquired title to the disputed oil and gas by a special warranty deed that only specified Sewickley Coal as the estate being conveyed therein. Therefore, Respondent LT Realty Unlimited, LLC cannot claim title to the disputed oil and gas because it was only conveyed the Sewickley Coal estate in the special warranty deed. Accordingly, Respondent LT Realty Unlimited, LLC lacks standing to seek a declaration that the subject tax deeds also conveyed an unreferenced oil and gas estate.

5. As an alternative to Assignment of Error No. 4, the Circuit Court erred when it failed to find the special warranty deed from which Respondent LT Realty Unlimited, LLC claims title to the disputed oil and gas was ambiguous. Such a finding would have permitted consideration

of extrinsic evidence which undisputedly establishes the third-party grantor to the special warranty deed, Elemental Resources, only intended to convey to Respondent LT Realty Unlimited, LLC the Sewickley Coal estate, not any oil and gas interest.

II. STATEMENT OF CASE

This suit concerns the ownership of an undivided 2/8th (or 1/4th) interest in an oil and gas estate underlying a 119-acre tract¹ of land located in Clay District, Monongalia County, West Virginia, and described in a deed dated May 18, 1940 (“Subject Oil and Gas”). (J.A. 000366-000370). The five assignments of error asserted in this appeal fall within three distinct issues. The first two of these three issues, of which the first three (3) assignments of error pertain, arise from how the Subject Oil and Gas and its 119-acre surface estate were assessed in relation to a 136-acre Sewickley coal estate, which underlies the 119-acre surface estate and an adjacent 17-acre tract, and a subsequent tax deed conveying the 136-acre Sewickley coal estate. The third issue, which encompasses assignments of error four (4) and five (5), pertain to whether a regular, special warranty deed that expressly identifies and describes only one specific estate as being conveyed – Sewickley coal – will nevertheless convey another estate not identified therein, namely oil and gas, because there is no exception and reservation of the unspecified oil and gas. To better understand these issues, it is first important to set forth the pertinent facts regarding the chain of title for the Subject Oil and Gas.

A. Acquisition of Subject Oil and Gas by Tennant Petitioner’s Grandfather, George Tennant.

In 1871, the Subject Oil and Gas was acquired by Marion Tennant, who was the great-grandfather of Petitioners David Tennant and Yuri Popov² (“Tennant Petitioners”). (J.A. 000912-

¹ The tract of land overlying the Subject Oil and Gas is sometimes referenced in the documents of record as containing 118 acres. Consequently, the Subject Oil and Gas in dispute is sometimes referred to as containing 118 acres.

² Yuri Popov was previously named Doug Tennant.

000913). Marion Tennant died on May 7, 1912, and in his will, he devised all his property, including the Subject Oil and Gas, to Martha Tennant, his wife and the great-grandmother of Tennant Petitioners (J.A. 000915-000916). Martha Tennant died intestate on December 22, 1925, survived by her and Marion Tenants' eight (8) children: George D. Tennant – which is the Tennant Petitioners' grandfather; Annie J. Tennant Pyles; Sarah M. Tennant Haight; Emrod P. Tennant; Emma R. Tennant Hunnell; Lourvernia B. Tennant Shanes; Lillie Tennant Sine; and John Julius Tennant. (J.A. 000918-000921).

Consequently, each of Marion and Martha Tennant's eight children inherited a 1/8th interest in the 119-acre surface estate overlying the Subject Oil and Gas, *as well* as a 1/8 interest in the underlying oil and gas estate, of which the Subject Oil and Gas is a part. In addition, each child of Marion and Martha Tennant inherited a 1/8th interest in a 136-acre Sewickley coal estate – 119 acres of which underlies the same 119-acre surface estate as the Subject Oil and Gas, with the remaining portion of the Sewickley coal underlying an adjoining 17-acre tract.

In 1925, following the death of Martha Tennant, Emrod Tennant conveyed George Tennant – the Tennant Petitioners' grandfather - several interests, including 1/8th of the surface overlying the Subject Oil and Gas, as well as his 1/8th interest in the 136-acre Sewickley coal estate. (J.A. 000923-000924). Following this conveyance, George Tennant possessed 2/8th in the overlying surface estate, 2/8th of the Sewickley coal estate, and the 1/8th interest in the Subject Oil and Gas which he had inherited from his mother.

In 1928, John Tennant conveyed to George Tennant several interests, including his 1/8th interest in the Subject Oil and Gas, his 1/8th interest in the overlying 119-acre surface estate, and his 1/8th interest in the 136-acre Sewickley coal estate. (J.A. 000926-000928). Following this conveyance, George Tennant possessed a 2/8th interest in the oil and gas underlying the 119-acre

surface tract – being the entire interest comprising the Subject Oil and Gas, 2/8th interest in the overlying 119-acre surface estate, and a 3/8th interest in the 136-acre Sewickley coal estate (“Subject Sewickley Coal”).

In 1938, George Tennant died. (J.A. 000744). From 1938 until 1941, the Subject Oil and Gas and the overlying 119-acre surface tract were assessed in George Tennant’s name as a single assessment, described as follows: “3/8 118 Sur. O&G Days Run.”³ (J.A. 000930-000932). Importantly, the Circuit Court found that at no time prior to 1940 was the Subject Oil and Gas and the overlying surface tract ever separately assessed. *See* (J.A. 000004-000007). Also, from 1938 through 1940, there was a separate assessment in the name of George Tennant for the Subject Sewickley Coal, described as follows: “3/8 136.192 Sew. C.” (J.A. 000930-000932).

B. Partition of 119-acre Surface Tract Following Death of George Tennant and Subsequent Assessment.

In 1940, as part of a partition action among various owners of the Subject Oil and Gas’s 119-acre surface estate, the entire interest in the 119-acre surface estate was conveyed to Velma Jewel Chisler, with the Subject Oil and Gas and the Subject Sewickley Coal being excepted and reserved. (J.A. 000906-000910). Subsequently, in 1941 there was one assessment in the name of Velma Jewel Chisler for “119.171 SUR DAYS RUN,” and another assessment in the name of George Tennant for “3/8 136.192 Sew. C.” (J.A. 000934; 000936). There is no separate assessment for the Subject Oil and Gas placed on the land books in 1941 or any subsequent tax year up to and including 2015.

³ The Subject Oil and Gas and overlying 119-acre (a/k/a 118-acre) surface estate assessment from the 1938 land book is the first assessment listed on the first page of the referenced document. The page has been torn and the entry is difficult to read, but when compared to the subsequent 1939 and 1940 assessment it can be discerned that the entry reads “2/8 118 Sur O&G Days Run.” (J.A. 000930).

Even though the Subject Oil and Gas was not placed as its own, separate assessment in the land books, the evidence establishes that it continued to be assessed with the surface after severance in title. Specifically, the 1941 Land Book entry for “119.171 SUR DAYS RUN” in the name of Velma Jewel Chisler states that the assessed “Land Value” was \$1,300, and the assessed “Building Value” was \$500, for a “Total Assessed Value” of \$1,800. (J.A. 000934). There is a handwritten note that accompanies this land book entry, which states that this assessed value is based on the total comprised value of the following individuals’ assessments from 1940: George D. Tennant; Cora O. Berry; Zola Greyson; Emma R. Hunnell; Anna J. Pyles; Louvernia B. Shanes; Lillie C. Sine; and David A Tennant. (J.A. 000934).

There is also a notation in the 1941 land book denoting which assessments of the prior owners were transferred to Velma Jewel Chisler and which account for the assessed “Land Value” of the property described in 1941 as “119.171 SUR DAYS RUN.” Each of these handwritten notations state: “To Velma Jewel Chisler.”⁴ (J.A. 000939-000954). The following is a table of the 1940 assessments which were notated in the 1941 Land Book as being transferred to Velma Jewel Chisler in 1941:

Name	Description	Land Value	Building Value	Total Assessed Value
George Tennant	3/8 118 SUR O & G DAYS RUN	\$525	\$225	\$750
David Tennant	1/32 118 SUR O&G DAYS RUN	\$25	\$0	\$25
Cora Berry	1/32 118 SUR DAYS RUN	\$25	\$25	\$50
Zola Greynolds	1/32 118 SUR DAYS RUN	\$25	\$0	\$25
Emma R. Hunnell	1/8 118 SUR O&G DAYS RUN	\$175	\$75	\$250

⁴ Given the writing is in pencil, and given the lapse of time, some of the handwritten entries are difficult to read on photocopies of these land book entries. Nevertheless, Tennant Petitioners’ expert, Robert Shuman, who examined the title records in this case, attests to the statements contained in these entries. (J.A. 001158).

Anna J. Pyles	1/8 118 SUR DAYS RUN	\$175	\$75	\$250
Lourvernia B. Shanes	1/8 118 SUR O & G DAYS RUN	\$175	\$75	\$250
Lillie Sine	1/8 SUR O & G DAYS RUN	\$175	\$75	\$250
TOTAL:		\$1,300	\$550	\$1,850

(J.A. 000939-000954; J.A. 001158).

As this table demonstrates, the total “Land Value” of the 1940 assessments that were transferred to Velma Jewell Chisler in 1941 equaled \$1,300. Critically, the “Land Value” of the 1941 assessment for “119.171 SUR DAYS RUN” in the name of Velma Jewel Chisler also equaled \$1,300. (J.A. 0000934; 001158-001159). Therefore, all real property interests encompassed in the individual assessments from 1940, which included the Subject Oil and Gas previously assessed in the name of George Tennant, were transferred to Velma Jewel Chisler in 1941 in an assessment described as “119.171 SUR DAYS RUN.” The fact that the value of those real property interests did not change between 1940 and 1941 establishes that the Subject Oil and Gas continued to be assessed in the “119.171 SUR DAYS RUN” assessment in 1941.

C. Petitioners’ Acquisition of the Subject Oil and Gas Estate

In 1942, as part of the administration of George Tennant’s estate, the Subject Oil and Gas and the Subject Sewickley Coal, formerly possessed by George Tennant, were conveyed to Hazel Tennant - George Tennant’s widow and the Tennant Defendants’ grandmother. (J.A. 000956-000967). In 1943, the Subject Sewickley Coal assessment was transferred from the name of George Tennant to Hazel Tennant and is described as being “2/8 136.192 SEW. C. DAYS RUN.”⁵

⁵ The assessment incorrectly refers to the fractional interest of the Subject Sewickley Coal as being “2/8” rather than 3/8 interest, which was the actual fractional interest conveyed to Hazel Tennant as part of the administration of George Tennant’s estate. The assessment is carried forward with this incorrect fractional interest up to and including the 2015 tax year.

(J.A. 000969). The parties do not dispute that there is no separate assessment of the Subject Oil and Gas in 1943 or any subsequent year up to and including 2015. Petitioners maintain, however, that the Subject Oil and Gas throughout this time was encompassed in the assessment in the name of Velma Jewel Chisler, described as “119.171 SUR DAYS RUN.”

In 1974, Hazel Tennant conveyed the Subject Oil and Gas to Karl Tennant and Carolyn Tennant, the father and mother of the Tennant Petitioners. (J.A. 000971-000980). In 1987, Karl and Carol Tennant divorced, and Karl Tennant was awarded all realty he and Carolyn Tennant owned in Clay District, Monongalia County, West Virginia, which included the Subject Oil and Gas and the Subject Sewickley Coal. (J.A. 000745). In 2005, Karl Tennant died intestate. He was survived by his second wife, Wilma J. Tennant, and his three surviving children, Trey Brock Allan Tennant and the Tennant Petitioners. (J.A. 000982-000983).

In 2013, the Tennant Petitioners leased the interest in the Subject Oil and Gas they inherited from their father, Karl Tennant, to Petitioners Northeast Natural Energy and Pachira Energy. (J.A. 000985-000987). In May 2015, Wilma J. Tennant conveyed the interest in the Subject Oil and Gas she inherited from Karl Tennant to Petitioners Northeast Natural Energy and Pachira Energy. (J.A. 000989-000992). Also, in May 2015, Trey Brock Allan Tennant conveyed the interest in the Subject Oil and Gas he inherited from his father, Karl Tennant, to Petitioners Northeast Natural Energy and Pachira Energy. (J.A. 000994-000997). Subsequently, in June 2015, Petitioners Northeast Energy and Pachira Energy conveyed a royalty interest in certain oil and gas formations, including the Subject Oil and Gas, to Petitioners NNE Properties and Pachira Energy Holdings. (J.A. 000999-001002).

D. Sewickley Coal Tax Deeds and Respondent’s Special Warranty Deed for Sewickley Coal.

In 1992, a tax deed for the interest in realty identified as “2/8 136.192 Sew C. Days Run,” assessed in the name of Karl or Carolyn Tennant—successors in interest to the Subject Sewickley Coal—was issued to Shuman, Inc. for non-payment of taxes. (J.A. 001004). In its Order, the Circuit Court found the Subject Oil and Gas was also conveyed to Shuman, Inc. in this tax deed because the Subject Oil and Gas was never separately assessed following its severance from the surface. The Circuit Court did not address the fact that the Land Value assessments for the surface estate remained constant following the severance of the Subject Oil and Gas. (J.A. 000020-000023).

In 2010, another tax deed for the realty identified as “2/8 136.192 Sew C Days Run, Clay District” assessed in the name of Shuman, Inc., was issued to Elemental Resources LLC (“Elemental Resources”) for delinquent taxes. (J.A. 001006-001007). The Circuit Court concluded the Subject Oil and Gas was also conveyed in this Sewickley coal tax deed because Shuman, Inc. never had the Subject Oil and Gas separately assessed apart from the surface estate following the acquisition of the 1992 Sewickley coal tax deed. (J.A. 000023-000024). Following Elemental Resources’ acquisition of the 2010 Sewickley coal tax deed, it too never had the Subject Oil and Gas separately assessed. (J.A. 001022).

In April 2015, Respondent reached out to Elemental Resources to purchase certain Sewickley coal interests. On April 27, 2015, a representative of Elemental Resources emailed the sole member of Respondent, in which she stated:

It was a pleasure speaking with you today about our coal parcels in Monongalia county. Attached is a list of coal properties we have for sale in Monongalia County. Our asking price is \$20 per net acre. If you are interested in taking everything on the list we would let it go for \$15 per net acre. **The one you called about is highlighted in red.** If you have any questions let me know.

(J.A. 001009) (emphasis added). There is an accompanying spreadsheet attached to this email with various Sewickley coal interests identified. The “one” referenced in the email is highlighted in red and reads: “2/8 136.192 Sew C Days Run.” (J.A. 001011). The “one coal parcel” Respondent contacted Elemental Resources about is the Subject Sewickley Coal interest granted to Elemental Resources in the 2015 tax deed. There is no reference or mention of an oil and gas interest in any correspondence between Respondent and Elemental Resources.

Three days following the above email exchange, Elemental Resources issued Respondent a special warranty deed for an interest described as follows:

All that certain parcel of land, situate in the **Clay District**, of **Monongalia** County, State of West Virginia described as follows: **2/8 136.192 Sew C Days Run**, and being parcel **0400-0731-0000** as shown on tax map **9999**, which said map is filed in the office of the Clerk of the County Commission of **Monongalia** County, West Virginia.

Being the same property conveyed to **Elemental Resources LLC** from **G. Russell Rollyson Jr., Deputy Commissioner of Delinquent and Nonentered Lands of Monongalia County, West Virginia**, bearing the date of November 4, 2010 and of record in the Office of the Clerk of the County Commission of **Monongalia** County, West Virginia in **Deed Book 1423 at page 854**.

(J.A. 001013-001014) (bold in original, underline added).⁶ This is the conveyance by which Respondent claims he acquired the Subject Oil and Gas.

⁶ It should be noted that in February 2020, Elemental Resources conveyed to Petitioner Northeast Natural Energy LLC by quitclaim deed all right, title, and interest to any oil and gas Elemental Resources acquired in the second tax deed at issue in this case. (J.A. 001028).

E. Pertinent Procedural History

Respondent filed its original complaint on December 28, 2018.⁷ (J.A. 000029-000049). Respondent subsequently amended its complaint again on March 19, 2019.⁸ (J.A. 000129-000153). On January 23, 2020, Respondent sought leave to amend again to add two indispensable parties, the Tennant Petitioners, which was granted. (J.A. 000705-000759). A few days later, on January 30, 2020, and prior to the Tennant Petitioners being served with and having an opportunity to respond to the Second Amended Complaint, the Court proceeded with a hearing on Respondent and Petitioners Northeast Natural Energy LLC, NNE Properties LLC, Pachira Energy, LLC, and Pachira Energy Holdings, LLC's respective motions for partial summary judgment.⁹ (J.A. 000760-000798). At the conclusion of the hearing, and without stating her reasoning, the then sitting judge, Judge Scudiere, orally stated she was going to grant Respondent's motion. (J.A. 000795-000797). However, Judge Scudiere's oral ruling would have adversely affected the Tennant Petitioners in the Subject Oil and Gas, and therefore, any order entered in their absence would have been null and void, which was brought to her attention during this hearing after she announced how she intended to rule. Consequently, the Court thereafter held a status conference on March 10, 2020, with counsel for Tennant Petitioners present. (J.A. 000865-000866).

Following that status conference, the Court entered an order holding its ruling on the summary judgment motions in abeyance and entered an Amended Scheduling Order, which established a new summary judgment motion deadline. (J.A. 000865-000868). The parties

⁷ In its original complaint respondent asserted a cause of action for declaratory judgment in which it sought a declaration that it was the owner of the Subject Oil and Gas – it is the Circuit Court's ruling on this cause of action that is the subject of this appeal. It should be noted Respondent also asserted causes of action for trespass and slander of title – neither of these two causes of action are the subject of this appeal. (J.A. 000029-000049).

⁸ The respondent asserted the same causes of action in its amended complaint as it did in its original complaint – it just asserted additional averments omitted from its original complaint. (J.A. 000129-000153).

⁹ The issues raised in Assignments of Error 1-3 were briefed in Petitioners Northeast Natural Energy LLC, NNE Properties LL, Pachira Energy, LLC, and Pachira Energy Holdings, LLC's motion for partial summary judgment. (J.A. 000354-000362).

subsequently filed their respective motions for summary judgment.¹⁰ The Circuit Court, then presided over by Judge Scott, held a hearing on the parties' respective motions for summary judgment on September 28, 2020 (J.A. 001229-001273). The Circuit Court subsequently granted Respondent's motion for partial summary judgment and denied the Petitioners' respective motions for partial summary judgment, by order entered March 17, 2023, which was certified as a Rule 54(b) final order. (J.A. 000001-000028). This instant appeal followed.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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