RESPONDENT’S BRIEF

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

undertook the process of amending the West Virginia Constitution to expressly provide for the 

assessment of undivided interests in realty. As a result, Article XIII, §6 of the West Virginia 

Constitution was ratified on November 6, 1934.11 West Virginia Code §11-4-9 was enacted in 1935 

 
11. Article XIII, §6 of the West Virginia Constitution provided, in relevant part:  

 
It shall be the duty of every owner of land, or of an undivided interest therein, to 
have such land, or such undivided interest therein, entered on the land books of the county 
in which it, or a part of it, is situated, and to cause himself to be charged with taxes legally 
levied thereon and pay the same. When, for any five successive years, the owner of any 
tract of land, or undivided interest therein, shall not have been charged on such land books 
with state, county and district taxes thereon, then, by operation hereof, the land, or 
undivided interest therein, shall be forfeited, and title vested in the State… 
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pursuant to authority granted by Article 13, §6 of the Constitution, Section 11-4-9 provides for the 

separate assessment of surface and mineral estates when different persons own the surface and 

minerals. Section 11-4-9 also provides for the assessment of undivided interests in surface or 

mineral estates. 

Petitioners’ argument ignores the unambiguous language in West Virginia Code §11A-4-

33 in effect when Shuman, Inc received its tax deed in December 1992. Chapter 11A, Article 4 

established the procedures for the sale of real estate forfeited to the state for nonentry and or the 

delinquent properties purchased by the state at a sheriff’s tax lien sale. §11A-4-33 then in effect 

defined the scope of title conveyed to Shuman via a tax deed. Section 11A-4-33 does not state 

that a tax deed conveys only the interest in realty described in the forfeited tax certificate offered 

for sale. Rather, §11A-4-33 unambiguously states that a tax deed conveys “all such right, title and 

interest in and to the real estate as was, at the time of the execution and delivery of the deed, vested 

in or held by the state…”. Giving the language in §11A-4-33 its plain meaning, the extent of title 

conveyed by a tax deed is coextensive with the right, title and interest owned either by the state of 

West Virginia at the time of the issuance of the tax deed. 

Petitioners again argue for the adoption of an interpretation of §11-4-9 that would render 

§11A-4-33 superfluous. In Barber v. Camden Clark Memorial Hospital Corp., 815 S.E. 2d 474 

(W.Va. 2018), the West Virginia Supreme Court summarized the rules to be applied by courts 

when called on to interpret apparently conflicting statutory provisions. Barber stated: 

9. "[W]here two statutes are in apparent conflict, the Court must, if reasonably 
possible, construe such statutes so as to give effect to each." … 
 
10. "The general rule of statutory construction requires that a specific 
statute be given precedence over a general statute relating to the same 
subject matter where the two cannot be reconciled." … 
(internal citations omitted) 
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Id. syl. pts. 9-10.  Applying these rules, the portion of §11-4-9 relied on by Petitioners and §11A-

4-33 are not in conflict. Section 11-4-9 is contained in the portion of the Code controlling 

assessment of real estate for purposes of taxation. The majority of §11-4-9 is taken up describing 

when and how an assessor may assess separate estates as well as undivided interests in the same 

tract of realty. The portion of §11-4-9 cited by Petitioners was intended to make clear that where 

such separate assessments were made, the sale of a separately assessed interest for nonpayment of 

taxes would not convey title to the other separately assessed interests in the same realty on which 

property taxes had been paid. The Circuit Court agreed with this analysis. March 17, 2023 order, 

¶37 [J.A. 25]. Section 11A-4-33 is contained in the portion of the Code authorizing the sale of 

interests in realty forfeited to the State. Section 11A-4-33 defines the scope of title conveyed by a 

tax deed for property forfeited to the state. Therefore, even if §11-4-9 and §11A-4-33 were seen 

as being in conflict, as a matter of general statutory construction, the specific statutory provision 

contained in §11A-4-33 takes precedence over the general provision contained in §11-4-9 when 

deciding the extent of title conveyed via a tax deed.  

Decisions of the West Virginia Supreme Court interpreting what appear to be predecessors 

to §11A-4-33 support the Circuit Court’s conclusion regarding the extent of title conveyed to 

Shuman, Inc. via the December 1992 tax deed. In State v. Jackson, 56 W.Va. 558, 49 S.E. 465 

(1904), Supreme Court held: 

In 1884, in a proceeding by a commissioner of school lands to sell forfeited land, a 
decree allowed the owner to redeem, and declared the land redeemed and released 
from forfeiture, and decreed that the owner should also occupy the attitude of a 
purchaser from the commissioner; such owner took, not only the title redeemed, 
but also any other title vested in the state at the time of the redemption. 

 
Id. syl. pt.  3.  Citing  State v. Jackson, in State v. King, 64 W. Va. 546, 63 S.E. 468 (1908), the 

West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals held: 

A sale of land as forfeited under decree passes to the purchaser, when conveyed, all 
right, title and interest vested in the state at the time by forfeiture, whether derived 
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by forfeiture of one or more titles; but only so far as title remained in the state at 
the date of sale, and not  transferred to another by the constitution or before sold as 
forfeited. 

 
Id., Syl. Pt. 21.  The Circuit Court cited State v. King as authority for the proposition that the tax 

deed to Shuman conveyed title to all interests the state possessed in the tract purchased by Shuman. 

Those interests included the interest described as 2/8 136.192 SEW. C. DAYS RUN purchased by 

Shuman from the Deputy Commissioner of Delinquent Lands and the 2/8 interest in 118 acres oil 

and gas once owned by George Tennant and forfeited to the state for nonentry of taxes. Respondent 

asserts that this conclusion by the Circuit Court is correct and justified the grant of partial summary 

judgment in favor of Respondent regarding ownership of the disputed 2/8 interest in oil and gas. 

Petitioners place great reliance on State v. Black Band Consolidated Coal Company, 113 

W.Va. 614, 169 S.E. 614 (1933) to support their argument that the Circuit Court erred in concluding 

that the tax deed to Shuman more than the 2/8 136.192 SEW. C. DAYS RUN that had gone 

delinquent in the name of Karl Tennant. In fact, Black Band supports the Circuit Court’s findings 

regarding the extent of title conveyed to Shuman Inc.  

Black Bend involved a sale of delinquent real estate owned and assessed in the name of 

Pickens. Pickens’ delinquent interest was purchased on behalf of the state at a Sheriff’s tax lien 

sale. The tract was subject to existing oil and gas leases owned by Cambridge Gas Company. The 

Pickens tract and numerous other delinquent or forfeited tracts were the subject of a case brought 

by a commissioner for the benefit of the then existing public school fund. In that litigation, the 

State claimed that it had the right to sell the Pickens tract free and clear of Cambridge’s leases. 

Cambridge had caused the oil and gas leases to be assessed as personal property on the county tax 

rolls and paid the assessed taxes. 113 W.Va. at 873.  

Cambridge filed an answer in the school fund litigation to which the State demurred. The 

trial court sustained the demurrer, concluding that Cambridge had no legal basis to claim that its 
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oil and gas leases would survive the State’s sale of the delinquent Pickens tract. Id. On appeal, the 

Supreme Court, characterized the issue before it as follows: 

The precise question is this: Is an oil and gas lease extinguished when the land to 
which it pertains is sold by the state as forfeited, after having become delinquent 
for nonpayment of taxes and purchased by the state at a sheriff's sale, though the 
lease was separately assessed to the owner thereof as personalty and taxes thereon 
paid for the year of the delinquency of the land? 

  
113 W.Va. at 874.  The Court characterized an oil and gas lease as “chattel real”. The Court held 

that since the Cambridge leases were separately assessed as chattel real and the taxes assessed 

thereon paid, sale of the delinquent Pickens tract by the State would not convey the Pickens tract 

free of Cambridge’s leases.  Id. at 878.  

In this context, the Court discussed title conveyed by a deed under the then existing 

statutory scheme when delinquent real estate was not purchased at a sheriff’s tax sale and was 

deemed purchased by the state. Upon becoming unredeemable, title to delinquent land passes to 

the state by operation of law.  That interest could then be offered for sale by the state and the funds 

used for public school funding. These aspects of the statutory scheme discussed in Black Band are 

consistent with the statutory scheme in effect at the time Shuman, Inc received its tax deed. 

 In describing the title conveyed to the grantee upon such a sale under the then existing 

statute, the Court stated: 

If such property is not redeemed, becomes irredeemable (expiration of one year 
after sheriff's sale), and is sold by the State for the benefit of the school fund, the 
purchaser, when he shall have paid the purchase money, is entitled to receive from 
the commissioner of school lands, or other commissioner making sale, a deed 
conveying to him "all the right, title and interest of the State of West Virginia, 
in and to the real estate thereby conveyed, which passed to and vested in the 
State, under the Constitution and laws thereof, by reason of the forfeiture of 
such real estate, or otherwise, which remained in the State at the time of the 
decree for the sale thereof * * *." Code 1931, 37-3-27. (emphasis added) 

 
113 W. Va. at 876. Petitioners do not cite this statement in their brief. Rather, they reference a 

portion of a sentence that follows this passage: 
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But this rule which makes a new and hostile title of that [which conveys from the 
State under a sale based on forfeiture must be considered in the light of the above 
statutory provisions which limit such title to that against which the assessment was 
made and the taxes laid.] (bracketed portions included in Petitioners’ brief) 

 
113 W.Va. at 877.  Petitioners then omit language two sentences later which qualifies the language 

on which Petitioners rely: 

These postulates are, of course, based on the assumption that the State had no other 
title than that which it acquired under the forfeiture. All the State's title, 
whatever it may be, passed to its grantee. (emphasis added) 

 
Id.   

Thus, a fair reading Black Bend supports the Circuit Court’s finding that the December 

1992 tax deed received by Shuman Inc. conveyed the delinquent interest of Karl and Carolyn 

Tennant described as“2/8 136.192 Sew. C. Days Run” and sold to the state in 1990 and the 2/8 

undivided interest in 118 acres oil and gas previously owned by George Tennant which was 

forfeited to the state for nonentry in 1947. 

D. PUBLIC POLICY CONCERNS DO NOT OVERRIDE UNAMBIGUOUS LEGISLATIVE 

PRONOUNCEMENTS 
 

Petitioners’ third assignment of error argues that if the Circuit Court’s grant of partial 

summary judgment in Respondent’s favor is not reversed, confusion would result regarding the 

extent of title conveyed by tax deeds. This confusion will, in Petitioner’s telling, lead to uncertainty 

regarding ownership of real estate deriving title from tax deeds. Petitioners’ brief, pp. 26-30.  

Public policy concerns do not trump legislative enactments. Presumably, legislation 

addressing a particular subject defines public policy on that subject. If this Court finds that the 

Circuit Court correctly analyzed and applied West Virginia statutory and case law addressing the 

sale of delinquent and forfeited lands and as a result of the application of that law, Respondent 

owns the 2/8 undivided interest in 118 acres oil and gas at issue, Petitioners cannot be heard to 
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complain that that outcome is somehow at odds with public policy that favors settled titles to land. 

In fact, the opposite is true.   

Finally, even if this Court could somehow subvert the will of the Legislature by an 

invocation of public policy concerns, this Court must consider the fact that the statutory scheme 

that resulted in Shuman, Inc. receiving the 2/8 interest 118 acres oil and gas at issue was repealed 

and replaced in 1994. Under the current statutory scheme, the state never acquires title to 

delinquent land or lands deemed forfeited for nonentry. Moreover, the current statute specifically 

addresses the status of delinquent and forfeited lands deemed owned by the estate at the time of 

the enactment of the 1994 legislation. West Virginia Code §11A-3-68 now provides, in relevant 

part:  

Disposition of lands heretofore purchased by or forfeited to state 
 

All lands which have been heretofore purchased by the state at a tax sale 
pursuant to the provisions of the former article three of this chapter and 
which have not been redeemed from the auditor or certified to the circuit 
court for sale as provided in the former article four of this chapter shall be 
reported by the auditor to the sheriff of the county in which the lands are 
situated for reentry on the land books. Such lands shall be reentered on the 
land books in the name of the person charged with taxes on the land at the 
time of purchase by the state, and charged with all unpaid taxes thereon, 
including those taxes which have accrued since such purchase by the state, 
and all costs charged to such lands arising from the tax sale and purchase 
by the state. Such lands shall then be subject to disposition pursuant to this 
article. 
 
All lands which have heretofore been forfeited to the state pursuant to the 
provisions of former article four of this chapter, and which have not been 
certified to the circuit court for sale pursuant to such article, shall be deemed 
nonentered pursuant to section thirty-seven of this article, and shall be 
subject to redemption and sale as provided herein. 

 
The effect of §11A-3-68 is to take delinquent and forfeited properties that the State owned by 

operation of law prior to July 1994 and which had not yet been sold pursuant to the pre-1994 

statutory scheme and return those properties to the tax rolls for disposition under the current 

statutory scheme. Thus, persons who, but for the pre-1994 legislative scheme, could have claimed 
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ownership of delinquent or forfeited properties can attempt to redeem those properties under the 

current statutory scheme so long as those delinquent and forfeited interests were not sold and tax 

deeds issued under the pre-1994 statutory scheme. 

Thus, the universe of situations like the one presented in this case is presumably small and 

continues to decrease with the passage of time. Petitioners’ public policy argument as a basis to 

reverse the Circuit Court purchased grant of partial summary judgment must therefore be rejected. 

E. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE APRIL 30, 2015 DEED FROM 

ELEMENTAL TO RESPONDENT CONVEYED THE 2/8 INTEREST IN OIL AND GAS AT ISSUE 
 

Elemental received a tax deed concerning subject realty dated November 4, 2010. [J.A. 

102]. Elemental received this tax deed because Shuman, Inc. failed to pay taxes assessed on the 

land it acquired via the December 28, 1992 tax deed. The Circuit Court concluded that the tax deed 

to Elemental conveyed the 2/8 136.192 SEW. C. DAYS RUN assessed in the name of Shuman 

Inc. and the disputed 2/8 interest in 118 acres oil and gas. March 17, 2023 order, ¶32, [J.A. 24].   

Petitioners do not argue that the Circuit Court erred in its analysis of West Virginia’s 

current statutory scheme defining the extent of title conveyed by the tax deed to Elemental. Rather, 

Petitioners first argue that Respondent lacks standing to seek a declaration of its rights under the 

April 30, 2015 deed from Elemental. This argument must be rejected out of hand. 

Petitioners raise their standing argument for the first time on appeal. The West Virginia 

Supreme Court of Appeals generally rule that nonjurisdictional questions have not been decided 

at the trial court level may not be raised for the first time on appeal. See, e.g.  Whitlow v. Board of 

Educ. of Kanawha County, 438 S.E.2d 15, 190 W.Va. 223 (W. Va. 1993) Respondent therefore 

asserts that Petitioners have waived their standing argument. 

Moreover, Petitioners’ argument is an exercise in circular logic. Petitioners assert 

“Respondent was required to establish that it was conveyed the Subject Oil and Gas in the special 
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warranty deed from which it claims title to that oil and gas.” Petitioners’ brief, p. 31. In Petitioners’

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